IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA CASE NO. SC95370

BURLEY GILLIAM,

Appellant,

v.

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellee.

ON APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT OF THE ELEVENTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT, IN AND FOR DADE COUNTY, STATE OF FLORIDA

AMENDED INITIAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

DAN D. HALLENBERG Assistant CCRC Florida Bar No.0940615

OFFICE OF THE CAPITAL COLLATERAL REGIONAL COUNSEL- SOUTH 101 N.E. 3rd Avenue. Suite 400 Fort Lauderdale, FL 33301 (954) 713-1284

COUNSEL FOR APPELLANT

PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

This proceeding involves the appeal of the circuit court's denial of Mr. Gilliam's motion for post-conviction relief. The motion was brought pursuant to Fla. R. Crim. P. 3.850.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Mr. Gilliam was charged by indictment returned on July 8, 1982, with first degree murder (Count I), sexual battery (Count II), and grand theft (Count III) (R. 1-3). After a trial in which he proceeded pro se with standby counsel, Mr. Gilliam was convicted of first degree murder and sexual battery, and the court imposed the jury-recommended sentence of death. On direct appeal, the Supreme Court of Florida reversed the judgment and sentence and remanded for a new trial. Gilliam v. State, 514 So. 2d 1098 (Fla. 1987).

Mr. Gilliam's second trial by jury commenced on June 6, 1988. At trial, Mr. Gilliam relied on the defense of insanity due to the fact that he was suffering an epileptic "psychomotor" seizure at the time of the homicide. Although he recalled leaving the strip club with a stripper who had propositioned him, he remembered little else due to the seizure (R 1929-34). The defense's expert, Dr. Stillman, testified that persons experiencing psychomotor seizures are capable of engaging in violent, goal-directed behavior of which they are not consciously aware (R. 1994-1999, 2132). Dr. Stillman believed that, due to Mr. Gilliam's epileptic condition at the time of the homicide, he was not capable of telling the difference between right and wrong and did not know the nature and consequences of his actions (R. 2002). The State countered with expert testimony suggesting that, while Mr.Gilliam may have had a seizure disorder, he could not

have killed the victim while experiencing a seizure (R 2225-2369).

The jury found him guilty as charged on June 17, 1988 (R. 4, 394-396). The penalty phase proceedings were held on June 20, 1988. Defense counsel called no witnesses to testify at the penalty phase (R. 2661). The jury recommended to impose the death penalty (R. 336). At the sentencing hearing held on August 16, 1988, defense counsel called seven (7) witnesses, two experts and five family members (R 2846-2926). The court sentenced Gilliam to death on Count I and imposed a consecutive term of life imprisonment as to Count II. (R. 491-503).

On direct appeal, the Florida Supreme Court affirmed the convictions. <u>Gilliam v. State</u>, 582 So. 2d 610 (Fla. 1991). The Court also affirmed the sentence of death but vacated the consecutive life sentence for sexual battery and remanded the case with an order for the lower court to imposed a concurrent life sentence. (<u>Id</u>.) No writ of certiorari was filed with the Supreme Court of the United States.

Mr. Gilliam subsequently filed with the lower court a Rule 3.850 motion to vacate his judgment and sentence in which he asserted twenty-three (23) claims for relief (PC-SR 152-314). In an order issued on October 13, 1995, the court denied Mr. Gilliam's claim that he has been denied access to public records claim (PC-SR 333-37). Also in the order, the court summarily denied all but a portion of one of the remaining of Mr. Gilliam's claims (Id.). With respect to Mr. Gilliam's claims that the state

failed to disclose <u>Brady</u> material, the court concluded that Mr. Gilliam "failed to show that he did not possess this information nor how it could have brought about a different result at trial" (PC-SR 335).

Mr. Gilliam claimed that defense counsel was ineffective during the guilt-innocence phase of the trial in numerous respects, including defense counsel's decision to have Mr. Gilliam testify regarding the facts surrounding a prior rape conviction (PC-SR 190). Defense counsel announced in opening statement that Mr. Gilliam had a conviction from Texas for "statutory rape" (R. 1150-1). Defense counsel subsequently called Mr. Gilliam to testify and questioned him about this "statutory rape" conviction (R. 1919-20). In rebuttal, the State presented evidence that the victim in the Texas case was choked which resulted in bruises on her neck and a black eye (R. 2427). The State took advantage of this devastating evidence to argue not only that Mr. Gilliam had lied on the stand about the nature of the prior conviction, but also to suggest that the prior conviction evidenced a pattern of similar criminal behavior (R. 1940-1, 1945-6, 2772-3). The State also used the prior conviction as an aggravating circumstance (prior violent felony)(R. 2674). The lower court summarily denied this claim on the basis that the decision to present this evidence on the part of defense counsel was a "strategic call" which did not fall below acceptable professional standards (PC-SR 336).

As for Mr. Gilliam's claim that defense counsel failed to adequately investigate, develop and present available evidence to support a voluntary intoxication defense (PC-SR 195-7), the court summarily denied the claim as being without merit, noting merely that "there was evidence adduced at trial as to voluntary intoxication" (PC-SR. 336).

The court summarily denied the remaining claims on the basis that the claims were procedurally barred because they could have been raised on direct appeal (PC-SR. 337). Included in these claims was the claim that Mr. Gilliam was denied competent mental health assistance. Mr. Gilliam specifically asserted in this claim that the mental health expert that defense counsel did retained was not competent (PC-SR. 311-12), that defense failed to investigate and discover evidence of Mr. Gilliam's mental health history, and failed to present mitigation evidence to the judge and jury (PC-SR. 311).

As to Mr. Gilliam's claim that he was denied effective assistance of counsel at the penalty phase proceedings, the lower court granted Mr. Gilliam an evidentiary hearing on the singular sub-issue of defense counsel's failure to call at the penalty phase the same seven (7) witnesses who defense counsel later called to testify at the sentencing hearing (PC-SR. 336); (PC-R. Vol.10, 76-79).

Defense counsel testified at the evidentiary hearing that the reason he did not call any witnesses at the penalty phase was because, as the lower court concluded, "In [defense counsel's]

opinion it would have proved futile to do so" (PC-SR. 364). The court further found,

[Defense counsel] obviously felt that under the circumstances to do so would have been fruitless. His feeling was that this evidence might be better received by the sentencing Judge in light of the fact that this jury had just heard a great deal [of] evidence against Mr. Gilliam and determined him to be guilty of first-degree murder.

(PC-SR. 365). The court concluded defense counsel was not ineffective for not calling the witnesses at the penalty phase proceedings.

In a related issue, Mr. Gilliam also alleged that defense counsel had failed to investigate and present mitigation evidence in addition to the evidence presented at the guilt-innocence and penalty phase proceedings. As a result, he was unable to present readily available mitigation to the penalty phase jury (PC-SR. 204). It became apparent at the scheduled evidentiary hearing that there was some confusion as to exactly on which issues the court had granted an evidentiary hearing (PC-R. Vol.10, 73-79). At the time of the scheduled hearing, the court clarified that it was only granting an evidentiary hearing on the narrow issue of defense counsel's failure to call at the penalty phase the same witnesses counsel later called at the sentencing hearing (PC-R. Vol.10, 76).

In light of this clarification, the court refused to allow post-conviction counsel to call at the evidentiary hearing two expert witnesses, Dr. Eisenstein, Ph.D. and Dr. Burglass, M.D. (neither testified at the sentencing hearing) (PC-R. Vol.10, 76-

9). However, the court did permit post-conviction counsel to proffer this evidence in support of Mr. Gilliam's claim that defense counsel failed to investigate, discover and present evidence of Mr. Gilliam's drug dependency and mental health (PC-R. Vol.10, 83-5).

According to these proffers, Dr. Eisenstein would have testified that Mr. Gilliam suffers from organic brain damage and a whole host of other psychological problems and that, as a child, Mr. Gilliam suffered from horrific physical abuse, abandonment, and poverty to the point of starvation (PC-SR. 378-80). He also would have testified that as an adult Mr. Gilliam suffered from an extensive history of drug and alcohol abuse up to the time of his arrest in 1982 (Id.)(PC-R. Vol.10, 85). Finally, Dr. Eisenstein would have testified that due to Mr. Gilliam's organic brain damage and history of emotional and psychological problems, that at the time of the crime, Mr. Gilliam was under the influence of extreme mental or emotional disturbance and his capacity to appreciate the criminality of his conduct or conform his conduct to the requirements of law was substantially impaired (Id.).

Dr. Burglass would have testified that, at the time Mr. Gilliam was arrested in 1982, he addicted to "Speed", cocaine, alcohol and marijuana and that he began drinking and smoking marijuana in his teens (PC-SR. 378-80)(PC-R. Vol.10, 83-4). In his adult life (beginning in 1977) and up to the time of his arrest, Mr. Gilliam abused Speed (PC-SR. 378-80). In the

beginning Mr. Gilliam would pop pills (Biphetamine 120)(PC-SR. 378-80). Later, Mr. Gilliam smoked biphetamine and methamphetamine (PC-SR. 378-80). Mr. Gilliam would also mix cocaine and speed together and use a syringe to "shoot-up" the drugs in his arm (PC-SR. 378-80). Sometimes Mr. Gilliam would snort the cocaine by itself (PC-SR. 378-80).

During this period in Mr. Gilliam's life, he would drink beer and Jack Daniels while high off of cocaine and speed. Family members and friends reported seeing Mr. Gilliam drinking and drugging for three or four days without sleep. Mr. Gilliam would also shoot-up a mixture of cocaine and heroin (PC-SR. 378-80).

Also according to the proffer of Dr. Burglass' testimony, Mr. Gilliam maintained his drug addiction by using an assortment of psycho-stimulants, hypnotics and hallucinogens: Quaaludes, Mushrooms, Acid, Black Marleys and other drugs (PC-SR. 378-80). This hard drug use increased in intensity from 1977 to the date of Mr. Gilliam's arrest in 1982 (PC-SR. 378-80). Both Dr. Eisenstein and Dr. Burglass were available to testify at Mr. Gilliam's trial (PC-SR. 378-80).

In its order denying Mr. Gilliam's claim of ineffective assistance at the penalty phase, the court explained that it did not permit the testimony of Dr. Eisenstein and Dr. Burglass because:

[I]t was previously determined that the only evidence which could be presented at the evidentiary hearing would be that pertaining

to trial counsel's failure to present witnesses before the "recommending jury" and because these experts:

had absolutely nothing to do with the first trial, but rather were people who Mr. Gilliam felt might be in a position to offer mitigation for him at the present time. In other words, the defense made no showing whatsoever that these witnesses, were available at the sentencing phase proceeding, or that trial counsel . . . even knew of their existence.

(PC-SR. 365-366). After a long delay, the lower court denied Mr. Gilliam's motion for rehearing and Mr. Gilliam timely filed a notice of appeal (PC-SR. 367-372; PC-R. 558-61). This appeal follows.

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

1. The lower court erred by summarily denying many of Mr. Gilliam's claims. These claims included claims that defense counsel was ineffective for failing to investigate, discover and properly present available mitigation evidence and evidence of voluntary intoxication. Mr. Gilliam also claimed that counsel was ineffective for "opening the door" during the guilt-innocence phase of the trial to prejudicial circumstances alleged regarding a prior rape conviction. Other claims included defense counsel's failure to argue the aggravating and mitigating circumstances at issue in the penalty phase and failure to investigate mitigation and employ a competent mental health expert. Mr. Gilliam also claimed that he was denied the use of material exculpatory evidence due to either state misconduct or ineffective assistance of counsel. The motion, files and records in the case do not

conclusively show that he is entitled to no relief on these and other claims.

- 2. Defense counsel was ineffective at the penalty phase when counsel failed to present certain mitigation evidence and evidence challenging the heinous, atrocious or cruel aggravating circumstance that counsel later presented at the sentencing hearing. Defense counsel's reasoning for not presenting this critical evidence to the jury was that defense counsel believed that no matter what evidence he presented to the jury, the jury was going to come back with a death recommendation. He therefore "gave up" on the penalty phase. This does not constitute acceptable trial strategy because such a tactic is necessarily premised on the incorrect belief that the jury's recommendation had no influence whatsoever on the court. Under Florida's death penalty scheme, the jury is a co-sentencer and the trial court must give "great weight" to the jury's recommendation. Counsel did not know or understand the significance of the jury's recommendation in terms of its legal effect ("great weight") on the court's ultimate decision.
- 3. The lower court erred in summarily denying Mr. Gilliam's claim that defense counsel failed to investigate and present additional mitigation evidence. Mr. Gilliam showed that he had experts who would have been available at trial to testify that at the time of the offense, Mr. Gilliam suffered organic brain damage and other psychological problems and was dependent on speed, cocaine, alcohol and marijuana. These experts also would

have testified that Mr. Gilliam had suffered from physical abuse, abandonment, and poverty to the point of starvation.

- 4. The lower court erred in summarily denying Mr. Gilliam's claim that defense counsel was ineffective for opening the door to alleged factual circumstances of a prior rape conviction. Defense counsel "opened the door" to the Texas rape conviction by announcing in opening sttaement that the conviction was for "statutory rape" and then having Mr. Gilliam so testify. Defense counsel's deficient performance permitted the State to present to the jury during the guilt-innocence phase evidence that Mr. Gilliam violently raped a fifteen year-old girl in 1969. The State effectively used this evidence as impeachment evidence, as improper "Williams" rule evidence, and to argue that Mr. Gilliam's epilepsy defense was a sham. But for defense counsel's decision to assert to the jury that the Texas rape conviction was merely the result of Mr. Gilliam's consensual sex with his minor girlfriend, the State could not have presented this highly prejudicial evidence. At trial, the State agreed that defense counsel should have known that the State had evidence alleging that the rape conviction was the result of a violent attack. Defense counsel admitted he knew nothing about a police report so indicating.
- 5. The lower court erred in summarily denying Mr. Gilliam's claim that defense counsel was ineffective by failing to argue the aggravating and mitigating circumstances at issue in the penalty phase. The crux of defense counsel's closing argument was

that the jury should determine the appropriate recommendation based on the jury's "personal, religious, and moral beliefs" and in considering how best its decision could protect society.

Defense counsel failed to mention any of the specific statutory and non-statutory mitigation evidence that had come out at trial. Nor did counsel even mention the State's asserted aggravating circumstances and effectively conceeded them. Counsel's performance was deficient and prejudicial.

- 6. The lower court erred in summarily denying Mr. Gilliam's claim that defense counsel was ineffective by failing to investigate and discover evidence of voluntary intoxication.
- 7. The lower court erred in summarily denying Mr. Gilliam's claim that defense counsel was ineffective for failing to obtain a competent mental health expert to conduct a professional and competent mental health evaluation.
- 8. The lower court erred in summarily denying Mr. Gilliam's claim that he was denied the use of material exculpatory evidence through either state misconduct or defense counsel's ineffectiveness.
- 9. The lower court erred in summarily denying Mr. Gilliam's claim that defense counsel was ineffective for not requesting a jury instruction that epileptic seizures can negate specific intent.
- 10. Admission of improper hearsay evidence denied Mr. Gilliam's right to confront the evidence against him.

- 11. The penalty phase instructions improperly shifted the burden to Mr. Gilliam to prove that the sentence of death was inappropriate.
- 12. Mr. Gilliam's sentence rests upon an unconstitutional automatic aggravating circumstance.
- 13. The sentencing court's consideration of non-statutory aggravating circumstances violated Mr. Gilliam's rights under the Eighth and Fourteenth Amendments.
- 14. The lower court erred by summarily denying Mr. Gilliam's claim that, as a result of defense counsel's ineffectiveness, the court improperly used Mr. Gilliam's "statutory rape" conviction as a prior violent felony aggravating factor.
- 15. Mr. Gilliam's jury was repeatedly instructed by the court and the prosecutor that it's role was merely "advisory". The jury's sense of responsibility was unconstitutionally diminished by the misleading comments and instructions regarding the jury's role. Mr. Gilliam is entitled to a new penalty phase proceeding. Defense counsel without tactic or strategy failed to object to these repeated violations and thereby rendered prejudicially deficient performance.
- 16. The jury in Mr. Gilliam's penalty proceedings was erroneously instructed on the vote necessary to recommend a sentence of death or life. The lower court erroneously throughout the proceedings informed Mr. Gilliam's jury that, even to recommend a life sentence, its verdict had to be by a majority vote. Florida law is <u>not</u> that a majority vote is necessary for

the recommendation of a life sentence; rather, a six-six vote, in addition to a majority vote of seven-five or greater, is sufficient for the recommendation of life.

- 17. The judge refused to recognize mitigating circumstances that were present. Under the requirement that a capital sentencer fully consider and give effect to the mitigation, the sentencing court's refusal to consider the mitigating circumstances which were established was error.
- 18. The lower court erred by summarily denying Mr. Gilliam's claim that he was denied a fair trial as a result of the bailiff's improper and impartial conduct.
- 19. The lower court improperly instructed the jury on the prior violent felony and heinous, atrocious or cruel aggravating circumstance.
 - 20. Mr. Gilliam was denied access to public records.
- 21. Mr. Gilliam's statement was obtained illegally in violation of the Fifth, Sixth, Eighth, and Fourteenth Amendments to the United States Constitution.
- 22. The warrantless seizure of physical evidence from the truck in Mr. Gilliam's possession and control and admission of the evidence at trial violated of the Fourth, Fifth, Sixth, Eighth, and Fourteenth Amendments to the United States Constitution.

ARGUMENT

ARGUMENT I

THE LOWER COURT ERRED IN SUMMARILY DENYING MANY MERITORIOUS CLAIMS.

Although the lower court granted an evidentiary hearing limited to a portion of Mr. Gilliam's penalty phase ineffective assistance of counsel claim, the court summarily denied the remainder of Mr. Gilliam's claims. The court erred. A Rule 3.850 litigant is entitled to an evidentiary hearing unless "the motion and the files and records in the case conclusively show that the prisoner is entitled to no relief." Fla. R. Crim. P. 3.850; Lemon v. State, 498 So. 2d 923 (Fla. 1987); State v. Crews, 477 So. 2d 984 (Fla. 1985); O'Callaghan v. State, 461 So. 2d 1354 (Fla. 1984); State v. Sireci, 502 So. 2d 1221, 1224 (Fla. 1987); Mason v. State, 489 So. 2d 734, 735-37 (Fla. 1986).

For example, where, as here, a Rule 3.850 litigant presents a well-pled claims contending that defense counsel failed to investigate and present mitigation evidence (<u>See</u> Argument II, III) and evidence of involuntary intoxication (<u>See</u> Argument VII), an evidentiary hearing is required.

Additionally, where, as here, a capital post-conviction Rule 3.850 litigant presents properly pled claims demonstrating that mental health evaluations conducted at the time of trial were professionally inadequate, and that a far more favorable result on mental health issues relating to sentencing would have resulted from the evaluations of mental health professionals who were provided with critically needed background information about the client (Argument VI), an evidentiary hearing and Rule 3.850 relief are appropriate. See State v. Sireci, 502 So. 2d 1221, 1224 (Fla. 1987). Cf. Mason v. State, 489 So. 2d 743 (Fla.

1986)(emphasizing importance of the source of the examining expert's information).

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