IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

CASE NO. SC95370

BURLEY GILLIAM,

Appellant,

VS.

THE STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellee.

ON APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT OF THE ELEVENTH
JUDICIAL CIRCUIT IN AND FOR MIAMI-DADE COUNTY,
CRIMINAL DIVISION

ANSWER BRIEF OF APPELLEE

ROBERT A. BUTTERWORTH Attorney General Tallahassee, Florida

LISA A. RODRIGUEZ

Assistant Attorney General Florida Bar No. 0109370 Office of the Attorney General Rivergate Plaza -- Suite 950 444 Brickell Avenue Miami, Florida 33131 PH. (305) 377-5441 FAX (305) 377-5654

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

XI. DEFENDANT'S CLAIM THAT THE PENALTY PHASE INSTRUCTIONS IMPROPERLY SHIFTED THE BURDEN TO PROVE DEATH WAS INAPPROPRIATE IS PROCEDURALLY BARRED AND MERITLESS.

Defendant contends the trial court erred by improperly instructing the jury regarding burden of proof to find death appropriate, non-statutory mitigators, and aggravating factors of Defendant's case. These issues could have or should have been raised on direct appeal. As, such Defendant's claim procedurally barred. Lambrix v. State, 641 So. 2d 847 (Fla. 1994); Bryan v. State, 641 So. 2d 61 (Fla. 1994); Chandler v. State, 634 So. 2d 1066 (Fla. 1994); Rose v. State, 617 So. 2d 291 (Fla. 1993). Furthermore, the courts have repeatedly rejected the claim that the instruction improperly shifts the burden of proof. Walton v. Arizona, 497 U.S. 639, 649-51 (1990); San Martin v. State, 705 So. 2d 1337, 1350 (Fla. 1997); Kennedy v. State, 455 So. 2d 351 (Fla. 1984); Arango v. State, 411 So. 2d 172, 174 (Fla. 1982). counsel would not have been ineffective for failing to raise this meritless claim, and the claim was properly summarily denied. See Groover v. Singletary, 656 So. 2d 424 (Fla. 1995); see also Card v. Dugger, 911 F.2d 1494 (11th Cir. 1990).

Furthermore, contrary to Defendant's assertion that the penalty phase instructions presented a *Hitchcock* claim, the court instructed the jury that:

You may consider as a mitigating factor any aspect of Burley Gilliam's character or background or any of the circumstances of the

offense that the defendant offered as a basis for a sentence less than death.

(D.A.R. 2701). Thus, jury was not "precluded from considering mitigating evidence,...and from evaluating the 'totality of the circumstances' in considering an appropriate penalty," as Defendant asserts. (See pg. 67, Initial Appeal of Appellant). Teffeteller v. Dugger, 734 So. 2d 1009, 1026 (Fla. 1999) (where defense counsel advised jury that they could consider any other aspect of defendant's character or record or any other circumstance of the offense as a mitigating circumstance, this Court found no merit to Hitchcock claim).

As Defendant's argument that the jury was improperly instructed on the aggravating circumstances that support his death penalty is procedurally barred because it was not raised on direct appeal, the lower court was correct in summarily denying this claim as such. Chandler v. State, 634 So. 2d 1066 (Fla. 1994); Rose v. State, 617 So. 2d 291 (Fla. 1993).

XII. DEFENDANT'S CLAIM THAT HIS SENTENCE RESTS UPON AN UNCONSTITUTIONAL AUTOMATIC AGGRAVATING CIRCUMSTANCE IS PROCEDURALLY BARRED.

Defendant's argument that the jury was improperly instructed on a unconstitutional and vague aggravating circumstance is procedurally barred because it was not raised on direct appeal. Accordingly, the lower court correctly summarily denied this claim. (S.R. 337). Lambrix v. State, 641 So. 2d 847 (Fla. 1994); Bryan v. State, 641 So. 2d 61 (Fla. 1994); Chandler v. State, 634 So. 2d 1066 (Fla. 1994); Rose v. State, 617 So. 2d 291 (Fla. 1993).

Additionally, Defendant charges that to the extent counsel failed to object to the automatic aggravating circumstance, counsel was deficient. However, "this Court has held there is no merit to the argument that an underlying felony cannot be used as an aggravating factor." Freeman v. State, 25 Fla. L. Weekly S451 (Fla. June 8, 2000) (citing Blanco v. State, 702 So. 2d 1250 (Fla. 1997)); Arbelaez v. State, 25 Fla. L. Weekly S586 (Fla. July 13, 2000). Thus, Defendant cannot show that the outcome of his trial was affected by counsel's failure to object to these aggravating factors. As such, the trial court properly denied this claim.

Defendant also contends that he was denied a reliable and individualized sentencing determination because:

In addition to the nonstatutory mitigation mentioned by the trial court, Mr. Gilliam also presented: (1) he was addicted to alcohol and drugs; (2) that he was a changed man; (3) that he was a father to his siblings; (4) that he

defended his mother and sister from brutal attacks from his father; (5) that he was learning disabled; (6) that he suffered a brutal childhood; (7) that he was from an impoverished background."

(See pg. 71 of Initial Brief of Appellant). However, Defendant addressed this issue on direct appeal, and this Court held:

We find the sentencing order sufficient. The order recites the statutory aggravating circumstances that were found proved, and the reasons supporting the findings. The order also recites the <u>nonstatutory</u> mitigating circumstances that the court found proved. In view of the trial judge's findings regarding nonstatutory mitigating circumstances, we can assume he followed his own instructions to the jury in considering the statutory mitigating circumstances despite the fact that he did not enumerate them. As we noted in Johnson v. Dugger, 520 So. 2d 565, 566 (Fla. 1988): "When read in its entirety, the sentencing order, combined with the court's instructions to the jury, indicates that the trial court gave adequate consideration to the evidence presented.

Gilliam v. State, 582 So. 2d 610, 612 (Fla. 1991). As this claim was raised and rejected on direct appeal, the lower court properly found this claim was procedurally barred. Cherry v. State, 659 So. 2d 1069 (Fla. 1995).

XIII. DEFENDANT'S CLAIM THAT THE COURT IMPROPERLY CONSIDERED NONSTATUTORY AGGRAVATING CIRCUMSTANCES IS PROCEDURALLY BARRED.

Defendant contends that the prosecutor improperly appealed to the jury's emotion by suggesting that Defendant posed a future threat to society during closing argument. Defendant also argues that he was denied a fair sentencing determination because the judge relied upon a hearsay report concerning Defendant's violent attack on his son. Finally, Defendant contends that a letter from Defendant's ex-wife expressing her fear of Defendant should he ever be released was improperly considered by the judge during Defendant's sentencing phase. Defendant argues that cumulatively these circumstances created impermissible aggravating factors which "evoked a sentence that was based on an 'unguided emotional response.'" (pg. 74, Initial Appeal of Appellant).

Defendant's claim is procedurally barred. Claims concerning allegedly improper comments made during the guilt and penalty phases could have and should have been raised on direct appeal. See Teffeteller v. Dugger, 734 So. 2d 1009, 1022 (Fla. 1999) (where defendant alleged counsel was ineffective for objecting to improper comments during prosecutor's closing argument, this Court found the claim procedurally barred as it should have been raised on direct appeal); Koon v. Dugger, 619 So. 2d 246, 247 (Fla. 1993); Wood v. State, 531 So. 2d 79,83 (Fla. 1988). Defendant next contends that his counsel was ineffective for failing to object to the comments

in closing. However, recasting a procedurally barred claim in terms of ineffectiveness does not raise the bar. Robinson v. State, 707 So. 2d 668, 697-99 (Fla. 1998).

Similarly, Defendant's claim that the judge impermissibly relied upon a hearsay report concerning an incident in which Defendant violently attacked his son is also procedurally barred, as Defendant raised this issue on direct appeal:

Appellant urges that it was error to admit during the penalty phase of his trial, a hearsay report of his attack upon his infant son, without an opportunity for rebuttal. We agree the admission of the this report was error, but because it was not presented to the jury and was not used to aggravate appellant's sentence, we find it harmless.

Gilliam, 582 So. 2d at 612. As this claim was raised and rejected on direct appeal, the lower court properly found this claim was procedurally barred. Cherry v. State, 659 So. 2d 1069 (Fla. 1995).

Finally, with regard to Defendant's contention that the letter from his ex-wife expressing her fear of Defendant amounted to an impermissible aggravating factor, this issue is also procedurally barred. The record reflects that defense counsel strongly objected to the admission of the letter from Defendant's ex-wife (D.A.R. 2954). The letter was never presented to the jury but rather only admitted during the *Spencer* hearing and the judge gave equal weight to another letter written by her expressing warm sentiment to Defendant which Defendant presented as mitigation. (D.A.R. 2954). The State submits the court made no error by balancing both letters

against one another. As previously discussed, the judge's order reciting the mitigating and aggravating circumstances found proven by the court was upheld on direct appeal. *Gilliam* at 613. Any claim with regard to the admission of such letter should have been raised on direct appeal and is procedurally barred. *Francis v. Barton*, 581 So. 2d 583 (Fla. 1991).

XIV. DEFENDANT'S CLAIM THAT HIS PRIOR RAPE CONVICTION WAS IMPROPERLY USED AS AN AGGRAVATING FACTOR IS PROCEDURALLY BARRED.

Although Defendant's claim that his prior rape conviction does not qualify as a prior violent felony is wholly without merit, such claim is also procedurally barred as Defendant could have raised it on direct appeal. Lambrix v. State, 641 So. 2d 847 (Fla. 1994); Bryan v. State, 641 So. 2d 61 (Fla. 1994); Chandler v. State, 634 So. 2d 1066 (Fla. 1994); Rose v. State, 617 So. 2d 291 (Fla. 1993).

Furthermore, Defendant contends that defense counsel was ineffective for not objecting to this aggravating circumstance. However, merely framing a procedurally barred claim in terms of ineffectiveness does not raise the bar. Robinson v. State, 707 So. 2d 668, 697-99 (Fla. 1998). Moreover, the record reflects that defense counsel did object to the presentation of Detective Poe's testimony concerning the Defendant's rape conviction Texas(D.A.R. 2409). Hence, Defendant cannot claim defense counsel was ineffective for failing to object to the admission of testimony concerning this aggravating circumstance. Further, there is absolutely no evidence in the record, nor has Defendant specifically identified the existence of any alleged information, indicating that the rape was anything but violent. Thus, the lower court properly summarily denied this claim.

XV. DEFENDANT'S CALDWELL CLAIM IS WITHOUT MERIT.

Defendant alleges that his counsel was ineffective for failing to object to comments by the trial court and prosecutor that allegedly violated *Caldwell v. Mississippi*, 472 U.S. 320 (1985). However, this claim could or should have been raised on direct appeal and is therefore procedurally barred. *Francis v. Barton*, 581 So. 2d 583 (Fla. 1991). Moreover, given that the comments did not incorrectly state the jury's role in the capital sentencing procedure, counsel cannot be deemed ineffective for failing to raise this nonmeritorious issue. *Kokal v. Dugger*, 718 So. 2d 138, 143 (Fla. 1998); *Groover*, 656 So. 2d at 425; *Hildwin v. Dugger*, 654 So. 107 (Fla.), cert denied, 469 U.S. 1098 (1984); *Breedlove*, 595 So. 2d 8,11 (Fla. 1992).

Under Caldwell, error is committed when a jury is mislead regarding its responsibility for a sentencing decision so as to diminish its sense of responsibility for that decision. However, "[t]o establish a Caldwell violation, a defendant necessarily must show that the remarks to the jury improperly described the role assigned to the jury by local law." Dugger v. Adams, 489 U.S. 401, 407 (1989). This Court has recognized that the jury's penalty phase decision is merely advisory and that the judge does make the final sentencing decision. Combs v. State, 525 So. 2d 853, 855-58 (Fla. 1988).

Accordingly, the trial court properly instructed the jury:

Your advisory sentence is entitled to great weight and may be rejected by the Court only if the facts are so clear and convincing that virtually no reasonable person could differ.

(D.A.R. 2705). As these comments properly characterized the jury's role under Florida capital punishment procedures, they did not violate Caldwell. *Davis v. Singletary*, 119 F.3d 1471, 1481-85 (11th Cir. 1997). As such, the trial court properly denied this claim.

XVI. DEFENDANT'S CLAIM THE JURY INSTRUCTION CLAIM IS PROCEDURALLY BARRED.

Although Defendant claims that the jury was incorrectly advised during the penalty phase regarding the majority vote necessary to recommend death, this issue could have and should have been raised on direct appeal. Francis v. Barton, 581 So. 2d 583 (Fla. 1991). Accordingly, it is procedurally barred on postconviction. Similarly, Defendant's claim that counsel was deficient for not objecting at trial to this issue is also procedurally barred, as he cannot merely re-frame a procedurally barred claim in terms of ineffectiveness to raise the bar. Robinson v. State, 707 So. 2d 688, 697-99 (Fla. 1998).

Even if Defendant's claim was not procedurally barred, a review of the record patently refutes that the jury was instructed improperly. (D.A.R. 2705). The court correctly instructed the jury regarding the majority required to recommend death:

If the majority of the jury determines that Burley Gilliam should be sentenced to death, your advisory sentence will be a majority of the jury by vote of whatever happens to be, advise and recommend to the Court that it impose the death penalty upon Burley Gilliam. On the other hand, if by six or more votes the jury determines that Burley Gilliam should not be sentenced to death, your advisory sentence will be the jury advises and recommends to the Court that it impose a sentence of life imprisonment upon Burley Gilliam, without the possibility of parole for 25 years.

(D.A.R. 2705-2706). Moreover, Defendant has not alleged how, even if the jury had been misinstructed regarding the majority required

for a recommendation of death, the outcome of his penalty phase would have been different. Merely asserting the blanket allegation of error without sufficient allegations that demonstrate prejudice does not entitle Defendant to relief. *Teffeteller v. Dugger*, 734 So. 2d 1009 (Fla. 1999). As such, the trial court properly denied this claim.

XVII. THE CLAIM THAT THE COURT IMPROPERLY CONSIDERED THE MITIGATING FACTORS OF DEFENDANT'S CASE IS PROCEDURALLY BARRED.

Defendant's claim that the court failed to properly weigh the mitigating factors in his case during sentencing is procedurally barred, Defendant raised this claim on direct appeal. As previously discussed *infra*, this Court found that the lower court did properly weigh the mitigating factors of Defendant's case and upheld the lower court's sentence of death:

We find the sentencing order sufficient. The order recites the statutory aggravating circumstances that were found proved, and the reasons supporting the findings. The order recites the nonstatutory mitigating circumstances that the court found proved. In view of the trial judge's findings regarding nonstatutory mitigating circumstances, we can assume he followed his own instructions to the jury in considering the statutory mitigating circumstances despite the fact that he did not enumerate them. As we noted in Johnson v. Dugger, 520 So. 2d 565, 566 (Fla. 1988): "When read in its entirety, the sentencing order, combined with the court's instructions to the jury, indicates that the trial court gave consideration to the evidence adequate presented.

Gilliam v. State, 582 So. 2d 610, 612 (Fla. 1991). As this claim was raised and rejected on direct appeal, the lower court properly found this claim was procedurally barred. Cherry v. State, 659 So. 2d 1069 (Fla. 1995).

XVIII. THE LOWER COURT WAS CORRECT IN SUMMARILY DENYING DEFENDANT'S CLAIM REGARDING THE BAILIFF'S CONDUCT.

Defendant's claim regarding a juror's letter to the trial judge which complimented the bailiff for "remaining professionally aloof and simultaneously protective" of the jury and "sharing some very amusing stores to help. . .pass the time" is procedurally Defendant addressed the issue of the juror's letter on barred. direct appeal in his claim that he was denied his right to a fair trial when defense counsel was prohibited from conducting post verdict interviews regarding whether the letter was written in response to a newspaper article published after the recommended the death penalty. Gilliam, 582 So. 2d at 611. juror's letter, which is the exclusive basis for Defendant's claim that the bailiff's acted impartially or improperly, was addressed at length and placed into the record by the trial court. (D.A.R. 2732-44). As this claim was raised and rejected on direct appeal, the lower court properly found this claim was procedurally barred. Cherry v. State, 659 So. 2d 1069 (Fla. 1995).

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